

#### **PAPER • OPEN ACCESS**

## Fifth forces and broken scale symmetries in the Jordan frame

To cite this article: Edmund J. Copeland et al JCAP02(2022)016

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

#### You may also like

- <u>Junction conditions in scalar-tensor</u> <u>theories</u> Luis Avilés, Hideki Maeda and Cristián Martínez
- Invariant slow-roll parameters in scalar-tensor theories Piret Kuusk, Mihkel Rünkla, Margus Saal et al.
- <u>What makes the Universe accelerate? A</u> review on what dark energy could be and how to test it Philippe Brax



## IOP ebooks<sup>™</sup>

Bringing together innovative digital publishing with leading authors from the global scientific community.

Start exploring the collection-download the first chapter of every title for free.

ournal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

# Fifth forces and broken scale symmetries in the Jordan frame

#### Edmund J. Copeland, Peter Millington and Sergio Sevillano Muñoz

School of Physics and Astronomy, University of Nottingham, Nottingham NG7 2RD, U.K.

E-mail: ed.copeland@nottingham.ac.uk, p.millington@nottingham.ac.uk, s.sevillano@nottingham.ac.uk

Received November 19, 2021 Accepted January 10, 2022 Published February 9, 2022

**Abstract.** We study the origin of fifth forces in scalar-tensor theories of gravity in the socalled Jordan frame, where the modifications to the gravitational sector are manifest. We focus on theories of Brans-Dicke type in which an additional scalar field is coupled directly to the Ricci scalar of General Relativity. We describe how the necessary diffeomorphism invariance of the modified gravitational sector leads to a modification of the usual gauge fixing term (for the harmonic gauge), as compared to Einstein gravity. This allows us to perform a consistent linearization of the gravitational sector in the weak-field limit, which gives rise to a kinetic mixing between the non-minimally coupled scalar field and the graviton. It is through this mixing that a fifth force can arise between matter fields. We are then able to compute the matrix elements for fifth-force exchanges directly in the Jordan frame, without the need to perform a conformal transformation to the so-called Einstein frame, wherein the gravitational sector is of Einstein-Hilbert form. We obtain results that are in agreement with the equivalent Einstein-frame calculations and illustrate, still in the Jordan frame, the pivotal role that sources of explicit scale symmetry breaking in the matter sector play in admitting fifth-force couplings.

**Keywords:** cosmological phase transitions, modified gravity, particle physics - cosmology connection

#### ArXiv ePrint: 2111.06357



#### Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	Fifth forces and scale symmetry in the Einstein frame	3
	2.1 Fifth forces in the Einstein frame	4
	2.2 Fifth forces	6
3	Linearized scalar-tensor gravity	9
	3.1 Standard gravity	9
	3.2 Jordan frame	11
	3.2.1 Updating the covariant derivative	11
	3.2.2 Gauge fixing and obtaining the generic linearized Jordan-frame	
	Lagrangian	13
4	Fifth forces in the Jordan frame	14
	4.1 Diagonalization	16
	4.2 Non-relativistic fifth-force potential	17
	4.3 Møller scattering for purely explicit scale breaking $(\beta \rightarrow 0)$	20
5	Conclusion	20
$\mathbf{A}$	Understanding the fifth-force couplings at the Lagrangian level	21

#### 1 Introduction

Without symmetries to prevent it, scalar fields that are realised in nature will inevitably couple to any sector of a particle physics model that knows about gravity. This might, e.g., be through Higgs portals [1-6], through neutrino portals [7, 8] or through direct couplings to curvature invariants, such as the Ricci scalar in the case of theories of Brans-Dicke type [9]. However, the ability to make Weyl rescalings in metric theories of gravity makes it difficult to disentangle these various ways that scalar fields can couple to matter [10, 11]. Theories of gravity in which scalar fields couple directly to curvature terms are often referred to as scalar-tensor theories [12].

In fact, as far as quantum effects are concerned, any theory of gravity plus a scalar field should be regarded as a scalar-tensor theory: if, e.g., we tune away a direct coupling to the Ricci scalar at tree level or at a given energy scale, it will be regenerated by loop corrections or the renormalization group running to another scale (see, e.g., refs. [13, 14]). Hence, if we want to treat quantum field theories that know about gravity and involve scalar fields, we should treat them in the so-called Jordan frame (or Jordan-like frames), wherein all of the allowed couplings are present, be they to the gravitational or non-gravitational sectors. The import is that the so-called screening mechanisms (see, e.g., [15, 16]) that can allow scalar-tensor theories to evade local tests of gravity can similarly apply to Higgs-portal theories [10, 17]. We will not take screening into account in this work, but examples include the chameleon [18, 19], symmetron [20, 21] and Vainshtein [22] mechanisms, and their

JCAP02(2022)016

variants. For recent reviews on experimental and observational constraints (on screened) fifth forces, see refs. [16, 23, 24].

One symmetry that can affect the way that additional scalar degrees of freedom from the gravitational sector couple to matter is scale symmetry (or, in the local case, Weyl symmetry). In general, these scalars will mediate fifth forces between matter sources, and new long-range forces of nature are heavily constrained [16]. However, if the matter sector is scale invariant, the classical fifth forces are suppressed. In the case of the Standard Model (SM) of particle physics, the scale breaking term that plays a dominant role in allowing gravitational scalars to couple to matter is the quadratic term of the SM Higgs potential. This becomes clear when one works in the Einstein frame, as was described in ref. [10]. On the other hand, the role played by the same operator is less obvious when considered in the Jordan frame.

A popular example of a model that exploits scale symmetry to prevent the emergence of fifth forces is the Higgs-dilaton theory [25-39]. Therein, both the Higgs field and an additional gauge-singlet scalar are non-minimally coupled to the Ricci scalar. The action has a global Weyl symmetry, which is broken when the fields acquire vacuum expectation values (vevs) along a particular trajectory in field space. Note that the structure of the Higgs potential remains to be probed experimentally [40-47]. However, due to the dynamical origin of the scale breaking, the massless mode does not couple to the matter sector, leaving a theory devoid of fifth forces [36, 37, 48]. The role of explicit versus spontaneous (in this dynamical sense) scale breaking in the emergence of fifth forces was described in ref. [10], where the analysis was performed in the Einstein frame. In this paper, we will show explicitly how the same arguments are borne out directly in the Jordan frame.

The merits of dealing with scalar-tensor theories in the Jordan frame are threefold: first, there are theories for which an Einstein frame does not, in general, exist, such as Horndeski [49, 50], beyond Horndeski [51, 52] and DHOST [53, 54] theories. Second, as discussed above, in an interacting quantum field theory, the Einstein frame may exist only at a particular energy scale, with loop corrections and the renormalization of couplings regenerating Jordan-like frames. Third, the conformal transformation to the Einstein frame, and the subsequent field redefinitions needed to bring the theory as close to being canonically normalized as possible (notwithstanding any curvature of the field-space metric) must be performed on a model-by-model basis and may not be easily automated.

In order to proceed directly in the Jordan frame, we will need to work with linearized gravity, which cannot be decoupled (as it can be by construction if we work in the Einstein frame) due to the presence of the non-minimal coupling. By this means, we are able to isolate the kinetic mixings between the graviton and non-minimally coupled scalar field that can give rise to fifth forces. Most importantly, we find that the non-minimal coupling, through its effects on the geodesics of the spacetime, necessitates an update to the covariant derivative. Focusing on the (would-be) harmonic gauge, we determine the fifth-force potential by means of the non-relativistic limit of the scalar-mediated scattering matrix elements. Moreover, our results agree with those obtained in the Einstein frame, as per ref. [10].

This paper is intended to be both explicit and pedagogical. As such, we begin in section 2 with a review of previous studies on the relation between scale-symmetry breaking and fifth forces. After properly identifying the symmetries of Brans-Dicke-type [9] scalartensor theories in section 3, we define a so-called scalar-harmonic gauge, by updating the harmonic gauge from Einstein gravity, and perform the subsequent linearization of the gravitational sector. From there, we consider the fifth-force contributions to the Møller scattering in section 4 and obtain the Yukawa potential from its non-relativistic limit, concentrating on systems where the scale symmetry is broken either explicitly or dynamically. Our conclusions are presented in section 5. Additional details are provided in the appendix.

#### 2 Fifth forces and scale symmetry in the Einstein frame

In this section, we review the Einstein-frame description of fifth forces, emphasizing the key role of explicit sources of scale breaking in the matter sector in allowing fifth forces to couple to matter fields. What follows is based heavily on ref. [10].

In the Jordan frame, the equations of motion for the class of scalar-tensor theories on which we will focus can be derived from the following action:

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{1}{2} F(X) R - \frac{1}{2} Z(X) g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} X \partial_{\nu} X - U(X) \right] + S_{\rm m}[g_{\mu\nu}, \{\psi\}], \tag{2.1}$$

where the real scalar field X couples non-minimally to gravity through the function F(X)and evolves subject to the potential U(X). Z(X) allows for a non-canonical kinetic term. In addition, R is the Ricci scalar, defined in terms of the Jordan-frame metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , and  $S_{\rm m} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}_m$  is the matter action, containing the set of matter fields  $\{\psi\}$ . Throughout this article, we employ the mostly plus signature convention (-, +, +, +).

We now have a choice: we can either work directly in the Jordan frame, as we will do later in this article, or we can eliminate the direct coupling of the field X to gravity, by making a Weyl rescaling of the metric, and work in the Einstein frame. Therein, the gravity sector is of canonical Einstein-Hilbert form, and we may instead have direct couplings of the field X to the matter sector. While calculations in the Jordan frame are complicated by the need to treat gravity dynamically, those in the Einstein frame are complicated by the Weyl rescaling itself and the need to rescale the matter fields, which must be done on a model-by-model basis, as we will now describe.

The Weyl rescaling takes the form

$$g_{\mu\nu} = A^2(X)\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu},\tag{2.2}$$

where  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$  is the Einstein-frame metric,  $A^2(X) = \tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}^2 F^{-1}(X)$  is the squared coupling function and  $\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}$  is the reduced Planck mass of the Einstein frame. After some algebra, the transformation (2.2) leads to the Einstein-frame action

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left[ \frac{1}{2} \tilde{M}_{\mathrm{Pl}}^2 \tilde{R} - \frac{1}{2} \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \tilde{\chi} \partial_\nu \tilde{\chi} - \tilde{A}^4(\tilde{\chi}) \tilde{U}(\tilde{\chi}) \right] + S_\mathrm{m} [\tilde{A}^2(\tilde{\chi}) \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}, \{\psi\}], \qquad (2.3)$$

where  $\tilde{R}$  is the Ricci scalar built with the Einstein-frame metric  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . In addition,  $\tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}) \equiv A(X(\tilde{\chi}))$  and  $\tilde{U}(\tilde{\chi}) \equiv U(X(\tilde{\chi}))$  are respectively the coupling function and potential expressed in terms of the canonically normalized field

$$\tilde{\chi}(X) \equiv \tilde{M}_{\rm Pl} \int_{X_0}^X \mathrm{d}\hat{X} \sqrt{\frac{Z(\hat{X})}{F(\hat{X})} + 3[F'(\hat{X})]^2},$$
(2.4)

where the prime in  $F'(\hat{X})$  indicates the derivative with respect to the argument. We see from eq. (2.3) that, in the Einstein frame, matter fields still move on geodesics of the Jordan-frame metric, potentially giving rise to deviations from Einstein gravity that can be interpreted as a fifth force due to the exchange of fluctuations in the  $\tilde{\chi}$  field. If  $\tilde{A}^2$  can be expanded about unity, such that  $\tilde{A}^2(\tilde{\chi}) = 1 + \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\tilde{\chi}^n}{M^n} + \dots$ , we can similarly expand the matter action to show that

$$S_{\rm m}[\tilde{A}^2(\tilde{\chi})\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu},\{\psi\}] = S_{\rm m}\left[\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu},\{\psi\}\right] + \frac{1}{n!}T\frac{\tilde{\chi}^n}{M^n} + \dots, \qquad (2.5)$$

wherein we see that the field  $\tilde{\chi}$  couples to the trace of the energy-momentum tensor of the matter sector  $T = \tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta}T^{\alpha\beta}$ . Expressing the fifth-force coupling in this way, however, obscures the role that scale-symmetry breaking plays in the emergence of fifth forces [10], as we will describe in the next subsection.

#### 2.1 Fifth forces in the Einstein frame

The fifth forces that arise in scalar-tensor theories can be studied in multiple ways. For instance, one can solve the classical equations of motion and extract the corrections to the Newtonian potential from the spatial gradient of the solution (see, e.g., refs. [15, 16]). Equivalently, we can work with the tree-level matrix element for the *t*-channel exchange of the scalar mediator, from which we can then extract the non-relativistic potential (see, e.g., refs. [10, 55]).

We consider the following toy model, as constructed in ref. [10] and written in terms of the Jordan-frame metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ :

$$S_{\rm m} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \Phi \partial_\nu \Phi - \frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \Theta \partial_\nu \Theta - \bar{\psi} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial} \psi - y \bar{\psi} \Phi \psi \right]$$
$$-U(\Phi, \Theta) + \frac{1}{2} \mu_{\theta}^2 A^{-2}(X) \Theta^2 - \frac{\lambda_{\theta}}{4!} \Theta^4 - \frac{3}{2} \frac{\mu_{\theta}^4}{\lambda_{\theta}} A^{-4}(X) \right], \qquad (2.6)$$

where

$$U(\Phi,\Theta) = \frac{\lambda}{4!} \left(\Phi^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\Theta^2\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \left(\Phi^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\Theta^2\right) + \frac{3}{2}\frac{\mu^4}{\lambda}.$$
 (2.7)

The matter sector contains a would-be Higgs field  $\Phi$  and a Dirac fermion  $\psi$  (a proxy for the SM

electron). The fermion kinetic term has been antisymmetrized, with  $\overleftrightarrow{\partial} \equiv e_a^{\mu} \gamma^a \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} - \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\mu} e_a^{\mu} \gamma^a$ (where we make use of the vierbein  $e_a^{\mu}$ ), so that we can omit the spin connection from the action (see refs. [10, 37]). These two fields interact through a Yukawa coupling, which gives mass to the fermion after the would-be Higgs sector undergoes symmetry breaking. The additional  $\Theta$  field has been introduced so that we can move smoothly between two scenarios of scale breaking, and independently of the non-minimally coupled field X and its dynamics: the first ( $\beta \to 0$ ) in which the scale breaking is explicit, due to the presence of the dimensionful parameter  $\mu$  in the potential of the matter fields; the second ( $\mu \to 0$ ) in which the scale breaking is dynamical, arising along a particular trajectory in the  $\Phi - \Theta$  field space without explicit scale-breaking terms appearing in the Lagrangian. The specific choice of couplings between the  $\Theta$  and X fields has been tuned so that these fields do not have a mass mixing in the Einstein frame [see, e.g., eq. (2.13) below], while also allowing us to establish a hierarchy between the masses of the three physical modes (see ref. [10]).

The two limiting cases for the distinct sources of scale breaking are as follows:

**Pure explicit breaking (prototype SM Higgs sector)**  $\beta \to 0$ . In the limit in which  $\beta \to 0$ , the mixings between  $\Phi$  and  $\Theta$  vanish, decoupling  $\Theta$  from the matter Lagrangian. We are then left with the following potential in the Jordan frame [eq. (2.7)]:

$$U(\Phi) = \frac{\lambda}{4!} \Phi^4 - \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \Phi^2 + \frac{3}{2} \frac{\mu^4}{\lambda},$$
(2.8)

which is just the prototype of the SM Higgs potential, where we can see that the constant term in the potential U ensures that the vacuum has zero energy density in the symmetrybroken phase of the would-be Higgs sector. In this case, the term quadratic in  $\Phi$  provides an explicit source of scale breaking through the dimensionful mass parameter  $\mu$ . As we will show below, it is this term that plays the key role in allowing fifth forces to couple to the fermion field  $\psi$ .

Pure dynamical scale breaking (prototype Higgs-dilaton model)  $\mu \to 0$ . In this limit, all the sources of explicit scale breaking vanish from  $U(\Phi, \Theta)$ , leaving a scale-invariant potential. We therefore do not expect the conformal field X to couple to this potential in the Einstein frame, leaving the fermionic sector free of fifth forces. The potential is reduced to

$$U(\Phi,\Theta) = \frac{\lambda}{4!} \left(\Phi^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\Theta^2\right)^2, \qquad (2.9)$$

and analogous potentials appear in Higgs-dilaton theories [25–39]. In those scenarios, however, both  $\Phi$  and  $\Theta$  are non-minimally coupled to the Ricci scalar in the Jordan frame (and the dilaton is the light degree of freedom with the potential to mediate long-range forces), whereas we will take only the additional field X to be non-minimally coupled. The classical scale symmetry of this model is broken when the scalar fields  $\Phi$  and  $\Theta$  obtain non-vanishing vevs, leading to the emergence of a scale. Since this scale appears indirectly through the stabilization of the fields, we will refer to this as dynamical scale breaking [56]. In contrast to the case of explicit scale breaking, the fifth force mediated by X will not couple to the matter fields  $\psi$ . In what follows, we will show this by explicit calculation of the matrix elements. Alternatively, this can be understood in terms of the existence of a conserved dilatation current (see, e.g., refs. [37, 48]).

Let us now turn our attention to an explicit calculation of the fifth forces for this model. First, we need to express the matter action in terms of the Einstein-frame metric  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . To do so, we must perform the conformal transformation defined previously in eq. (2.2). This gives

$$S_{\rm m} = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \tilde{A}^2(\tilde{\chi}) \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \Phi \partial_\nu \Phi - \frac{1}{2} \tilde{A}^2(\tilde{\chi}) \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \Theta \partial_\nu \Theta - \tilde{A}^3(\tilde{\chi}) \bar{\psi} i \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\tilde{\vartheta}} \psi \right. \\ \left. -y \tilde{A}^4(\tilde{\chi}) \bar{\psi} \Phi \psi - \tilde{A}^4(\tilde{\chi}) U(\Phi, \Theta) + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{A}^2(\tilde{\chi}) \mu_\theta^2 \Theta^2 - \frac{\lambda_\theta}{4!} \tilde{A}^4(\tilde{\chi}) \Theta^4 - \frac{3}{2} \frac{\mu_\theta^4}{\lambda_\theta} \right], \qquad (2.10)$$

where  $\tilde{\chi} \equiv \tilde{\chi}(X)$  is the canonically normalized field [cf. eq. (2.4)] and  $\overleftrightarrow{\tilde{\partial}} \equiv \tilde{e}_a^{\mu} \gamma^a \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} - \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} \tilde{e}_a^{\mu} \gamma^a = \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}) e_a^{\mu} \gamma^a \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} - \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} e_a^{\mu} \gamma^a \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}).$ 

To leave the matter sector as close to being canonically normalized as possible, we redefine the fields according to their classical scaling dimensions, such that

$$\tilde{\phi} \equiv \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi})\Phi, \qquad \tilde{\theta} \equiv \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi})\Theta, \qquad \tilde{\psi} \equiv \tilde{A}^{3/2}(\tilde{\chi})\psi.$$
 (2.11)

With this, the Lagrangian becomes

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{m}} &= -\frac{1}{2} \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \tilde{\phi} \partial_{\nu} \tilde{\phi} + \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{\phi} \partial_{\mu} \tilde{\phi} \partial_{\nu} \ln \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}) - \frac{1}{2} \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{\phi}^{2} \partial_{\mu} \ln \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}) \partial_{\nu} \ln \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \tilde{\theta} \partial_{\nu} \tilde{\theta} + \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{\theta} \partial_{\mu} \tilde{\theta} \partial_{\nu} \ln \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}) - \frac{1}{2} \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{\theta}^{2} \partial_{\mu} \ln \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}) \partial_{\nu} \ln \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi}) \\ &+ \tilde{U}(\tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\chi}) - \bar{\tilde{\psi}} i \stackrel{\overleftrightarrow{\phi}}{\tilde{\vartheta}} \tilde{\psi} - y \bar{\tilde{\psi}} \tilde{\phi} \tilde{\psi} - \frac{1}{2} \mu_{\theta}^{2} \tilde{\theta}^{2} + \frac{\lambda_{\theta}}{4!} \tilde{\theta}^{4} + \frac{3}{2} \frac{\mu_{\theta}^{4}}{\lambda_{\theta}}, \end{split}$$
(2.12)

where

$$\tilde{U}(\tilde{\phi},\tilde{\theta},\tilde{\chi}) = \frac{\lambda}{4!} \left(\tilde{\phi}^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\tilde{\theta}^2\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\mu^2\tilde{A}^2(\tilde{\chi})\left(\tilde{\phi}^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\tilde{\theta}^2\right) + \frac{3}{2}\tilde{A}^4(\tilde{\chi})\frac{\mu^4}{\lambda}.$$
(2.13)

Thus, we can see that the redefinitions from eq. (2.11) eliminate all the couplings of  $\tilde{\chi}$  in the fermionic sector and in the pure  $\Theta$  potential from the last line of eq. (2.12). However, the same does not apply to  $\tilde{U}(\tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\chi})$ , since it contains dimensionful parameters. Moreover, as explained before, the only terms coupling to  $\tilde{\chi}$  in the Einstein frame are the ones which break the scale symmetry explicitly.

Keeping the calculation as generic as possible, we now expand the coupling function as

$$\tilde{A}^{2}(\tilde{\chi}) = a + b\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{\tilde{M}} + c\frac{\tilde{\chi}^{2}}{\tilde{M}^{2}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\tilde{\chi}^{3}}{\tilde{M}^{3}}\right), \qquad (2.14)$$

where  $\tilde{M}$  is an energy scale, and a, b and c are dimensionless constants, which will be defined for specific models. After including the original kinetic energy term for  $\tilde{\chi}$  from eq. (2.3) and making a further redefinition  $\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\chi} \rightarrow \sqrt{1 + \tilde{\theta}^2 + \tilde{\phi}^2} \ \partial_{\mu} \ln \tilde{A}(\tilde{\chi})$ , the non-gravitational part of the Einstein-frame Lagrangian can be written up to second order in  $\tilde{M}^{-1}$  as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = -\frac{1}{2}\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\chi}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{\chi} - \frac{1}{2}\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\phi}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{\phi} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\frac{\dot{\phi}}{\tilde{M}}\left(b + 2ac\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{\tilde{M}} - b^{2}\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{2\tilde{M}}\right)\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\phi}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{\chi} 
- \frac{1}{2}\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\theta}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{\theta} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\frac{\tilde{\theta}}{\tilde{M}}\left(b + 2ac\frac{\tilde{\theta}}{\tilde{M}} - b^{2}\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{2\tilde{M}}\right)\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\theta}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{\chi} - \tilde{U}(\tilde{\phi},\tilde{\theta},\tilde{\chi}) 
- \bar{\tilde{\psi}}i\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\tilde{\tilde{\theta}}}\tilde{\psi} - y\bar{\tilde{\psi}}\tilde{\phi}\tilde{\psi} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\theta}^{2}\tilde{\theta}^{2} + \frac{\lambda_{\theta}}{4!}\tilde{\theta}^{4} + \frac{3}{2}\frac{\mu_{\theta}^{4}}{\lambda_{\theta}}\cdots, \qquad (2.15)$$

where

$$\tilde{U}(\tilde{\phi},\tilde{\theta},\tilde{\chi}) = \frac{\lambda}{4!} \left(\tilde{\phi}^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\tilde{\theta}^2\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \left(\tilde{\phi}^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\tilde{\theta}^2\right) \left(a + b\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{\tilde{M}} + c\frac{\tilde{\chi}^2}{\tilde{M}^2}\right) \\ + \frac{3}{2}\frac{\mu^4}{\lambda} \left(a + 2ab\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{\tilde{M}} + (2ac + b^2)\frac{\tilde{\chi}^2}{\tilde{M}^2}\right).$$
(2.16)

We see that there are both kinetic and mass mixings of  $\tilde{\phi}$  and  $\tilde{\theta}$  with  $\tilde{\chi}$ . However, fifth forces arising through kinetic mixings when these involve a field with non-zero mass are suppressed due to the additional momentum dependence ( $\propto q^2$ ) that occurs for each insertion into the matrix element of the kinetic mixing operator. As a result, the mass mixing will provide the dominant fifth force. Moreover, since we are free to choose  $\mu_{\theta}^2 \gg \mu^2$ , the  $\tilde{\theta}$  field can be decoupled from the long-range fifth forces. We can then focus solely on the mixing between the would-be Higgs field  $\tilde{\phi}$  and the conformally coupled scalar  $\tilde{\chi}$ , as we will do in the next subsection.

#### 2.2 Fifth forces

As a concrete example, we will now specialize to the Brans-Dicke theory [9], whose Jordanframe action is

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{X}{2} R - \frac{\omega(X)}{2X} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu X \partial_\nu X \right] + S_\mathrm{m}[g_{\mu\nu}, \{\psi\}]. \tag{2.17}$$



**Figure 1**. Diagrammatic representation of the infinite series of diagrams contributing to the Møller scattering in the Einstein frame.

After performing the conformal transformation to the Einstein frame and canonically normalizing the fields (the explicit calculation can be found in ref. [10]), we find that the coupling function takes the form

$$A^{2}(X(\tilde{\chi})) = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^{2}}{X} = \exp\left[2\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{\tilde{M}}\right], \qquad (2.18)$$

wherein we have taken  $\omega(X) = \omega$  to be a constant and defined

$$\tilde{M}^2 = 2(2\omega + 3)\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}^2.$$
(2.19)

Thus, the Brans-Dicke model amounts to taking a = 1, b = 2 and c = 2 in eq. (2.14). It then follows from eq. (2.16) that the Einstein-frame potential is

$$\tilde{U}(\tilde{\phi},\tilde{\theta},\tilde{\chi}) = \frac{\lambda}{4!} \left(\tilde{\phi}^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\tilde{\theta}^2\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \left(\tilde{\phi}^2 - \frac{\beta}{\lambda}\tilde{\theta}^2\right) \left(1 + 2\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{\tilde{M}} + 2\frac{\tilde{\chi}^2}{\tilde{M}^2}\right) \\ + \frac{3}{2}\frac{\mu^4}{\lambda} \left(1 + 4\frac{\tilde{\chi}}{\tilde{M}} + 8\frac{\tilde{\chi}^2}{\tilde{M}^2}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\theta}^2\tilde{\theta}^2 + \frac{\lambda_{\theta}}{4!}\tilde{\theta}^4 + \frac{3}{2}\frac{\mu_{\theta}^4}{\lambda_{\theta}}.$$
(2.20)

The fields acquire the vevs

$$v_{\tilde{\phi}} = \pm \left(\frac{6\mu^2 + \beta v_{\tilde{\theta}}^2}{\lambda}\right)^{1/2}, \qquad v_{\tilde{\theta}} = \pm' \left(\frac{6\mu_{\theta}^2}{\lambda_{\theta}}\right)^{1/2}, \qquad v_{\chi} = 0, \tag{2.21}$$

where the  $\prime$  indicates that the choice of sign for the two non-vanishing vevs is independent. Expanding around the vevs  $(\tilde{\phi} \to v_{\tilde{\phi}} + \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\theta} \to v_{\tilde{\theta}} + \tilde{\theta} \text{ and } \tilde{\chi} \to v_{\tilde{\chi}} + \tilde{\chi})$  and recalling that the main contribution to the fifth forces is given by the mass mixing between  $\tilde{\phi}$  and  $\tilde{\chi}$ , the operator of interest from eq. (2.15) is given by

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} \supset \alpha_{\rm M} \tilde{\phi} \tilde{\chi} = 2\mu^2 \frac{v_{\tilde{\phi}}}{\tilde{M}} \tilde{\phi} \tilde{\chi}.$$
(2.22)

We are now in the position to calculate the matrix elements for the fifth force.

We proceed by considering the scalar contributions to the Møller scattering  $(e^-e^- \rightarrow e^-e^-)$  for our fermion  $\psi$ . These arise from the series of diagrams shown in figure 1. The external fermions couple only to the would-be Higgs field, represented by a continuous line, which then oscillates into a  $\tilde{\chi}$  particle (dashed line) via the mass mixing term from the Lagrangian [eq. (2.22)]. The ellipsis represents the infinite series of insertions of the mass mixing.

The resulting matrix element is given by

$$i\mathcal{M}\left(e^{-}e^{-} \to e^{-}e^{-}\right) \supset \bar{u}\left(\mathbf{p}_{1}, s_{1}\right)\left(-iy\right)u\left(\mathbf{p}_{3}, s_{3}\right)$$

$$\times \frac{i}{t - m_{\tilde{\phi}}^{2}} \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(i\alpha_{\mathrm{M}}\right)^{2n} \left(\frac{i}{t - m_{\tilde{\phi}}^{2}}\right)^{n} \left(\frac{i}{t}\right)^{n}\right]$$

$$\times \bar{u}\left(\mathbf{p}_{2}, s_{2}\right)\left(-iy\right)u\left(\mathbf{p}_{4}, s_{4}\right). \tag{2.23}$$

Since we assume the scattering fermions to be distinguishable, we need only consider the *t*-channel exchange, where  $t = -(p_1 - p_3)^2$  is the usual Mandelstam variable. Also,  $u(\mathbf{p}, s)$  and  $\bar{u}(\mathbf{p}, s)$  are respectively the Dirac four-spinor and its Dirac conjugate, with spin projection *s*. The resulting non-relativistic potential is given by

$$\tilde{V}(r) = -y^2 \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{Q}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{Q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \frac{\mathbf{Q}^2}{\mathbf{Q}^2 \left(\mathbf{Q}^2 + m_{\tilde{\phi}}^2\right) - \alpha_{\mathrm{M}}^2} \approx -\frac{y^2}{4\pi} \left(1 - \frac{\alpha_{\mathrm{M}}^2}{m_{\tilde{\phi}}^4}\right) \frac{e^{-m_{\mathrm{h}}r}}{r} - \frac{y^2}{4\pi} \frac{\alpha_{\mathrm{M}}^2}{m_{\tilde{\phi}}^4} \frac{1}{r}, \quad (2.24)$$

where  $m_{\rm h}$  is the mass of the would-be Higgs boson and the potential has been expanded to leading order in  $\alpha_{\rm M}^2$ . Isolating the fifth-force contribution and plugging in  $\alpha_{\rm M}$ , as extracted from eq. (2.22), we find

$$\tilde{V}_5(r) = -\frac{1}{4\pi r} \frac{m_e^2}{\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}^2 2(2\omega+3)} \frac{4\mu^4}{m_{\tilde{\phi}}^4},\tag{2.25}$$

where we have chosen the fermions to represent electrons with mass  $m_e$ . Notice that, since the fifth-force mediator is massless, the potential has a similar form to the usual Newtonian gravitational potential.

To study how the different mechanisms of scale breaking affect the modification to the Yukawa potential [eq. (2.25)], we need only recall that the mass of the  $\tilde{\phi}$  field is given by

$$m_{\tilde{\phi}}^2 = 2\mu^2 + \frac{\beta v_{\tilde{\theta}}^2}{3}.$$
 (2.26)

Pure explicit scale breaking (SM toy model)  $\beta \to 0$ . In this limit, the mass of the  $\tilde{\phi}$  field reduces to

$$m_{\tilde{\phi}}^2 = 2\mu^2,$$
 (2.27)

agreeing with the numerator of the fraction in the potential (2.25). Hence, the modification to the Yukawa potential becomes independent of the Higgs mass, and we find

$$\tilde{V}_5(r) = -\frac{1}{4\pi r} \frac{m_e^2}{\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}^2 2(2\omega+3)}.$$
(2.28)

Such a contribution to the non-relativistic potential can lead to significant deviations in the inferred gravitational force. A comprehensive review on the different tests and bounds on fifth forces can be found in ref. [16], where the authors mainly focus on the chameleon model, which applies to our results given that we consider only up to second order in the field fluctuations. In particular, the most stringent constraint at Solar System scales is given by the Cassini spacecraft [57], setting a bound on  $\omega \gg 40,000$ . Bounds at cosmological scales are less stringent,<sup>1</sup> such as those based on Cosmic Microwave Background data from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Even though Solar System scale tests are more constraining than cosmological ones, they are more affected by higher-order terms, making it possible to avoid the bounds through screening mechanisms.

Planck [58], which are consistent with  $\omega > 692$  at the 99% confidence level. Therefore, in the absence of any screening mechanism, we can see that a fine tuning of the value of  $\omega$  in the case of pure explicit scale breaking is necessary to achieve an agreement with experiments.

Pure dynamical scale breaking (Higgs-dilaton model)  $\mu \to 0$ . In this case, the numerator of the modified Yukawa potential [eq. (2.25)] tends to zero, whereas the denominator tends to

$$m_{\tilde{\phi}}^2 = \frac{\beta v_{\tilde{\theta}}^2}{3}.$$
(2.29)

Hence, even though classically scale-invariant theories might break the scale symmetry dynamically, the fifth forces still do not couple to the fermionic sector. It is important to remark that the vev of the would-be Higgs field  $\tilde{\phi}$  field [eq. (2.21)] does not vanish in the limit  $\mu \to 0$ , such that the mass-generation mechanism for the elementary fermions is preserved (with  $m_e = yv_{\tilde{\phi}}$ ). More generally, we see that the fifth-force coupling is proportional to the ratio  $\mu/m_{\tilde{\phi}}$ , such that we can suppress fifth forces by combining explicit and dynamical scale-breaking mechanisms [10].

For this tree-level example, the transformation to the Einstein frame and the subsequent calculation of the matrix elements were easily tractable. This may not be the case, in general, however. In the next section, we will describe in detail how we can proceed directly in the Jordan frame (or Jordan-like frames), without performing the conformal transformation and subsequent field rescalings.

#### 3 Linearized scalar-tensor gravity

If we wish to proceed directly in the Jordan frame, it is necessary to treat the metric dynamically and to work with linearized gravity, as we can in the weak-field limit. We will first review the linearization of Einstein gravity, which has been widely studied (see, e.g., refs. [59–61]). We will then generalize this procedure to actions with non-minimal couplings of Brans-Dicke type, taking care to consider the differing symmetries of this class of scalar-tensor theories.

#### 3.1 Standard gravity

Gauge symmetries reflect the redundancies of a theory, so we need to break these symmetries through a gauge fixing term to fully describe the field theory we are working with. We therefore take the Einstein-Hilbert action to be of the form

$$S_{\rm EH} = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{2} R + \mathcal{L}_{\rm gf} \right], \qquad (3.1)$$

where we have included the gauge fixing terms via  $\mathcal{L}_{gf}$ .

As we will justify later, we choose to work with the harmonic gauge, since it can be expressed at the level of the Lagrangian. The harmonic gauge is defined such that

$$\nabla^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} = \partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where  $\nabla_{\mu}$  is the usual covariant derivative in General Relativity. This constraint is uniquely satisfied by setting

$$\Gamma^{\mu} = g^{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}$  are the Christoffel symbols. Therefore, the gauge fixing term for the harmonic gauge becomes

I

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm gf} = -\frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{4} g_{\alpha\beta} \Gamma^{\alpha} \Gamma^{\beta}. \tag{3.4}$$

To linearize gravity, we must make small perturbations of the metric around a constant background. In this paper, we will assume this background to be flat, such that

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.5)$$

where  $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-1, 1, 1, 1)$  is the Minkowski metric. We then arrive at the following weak-field expansions:

$$\sqrt{-g} \approx 1 + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{3.6a}$$

$$R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \partial^{\rho} \partial_{\mu} h_{\nu\rho} + \partial^{\rho} \partial_{\nu} h_{\mu\rho} - \Box h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h \right) , \qquad (3.6b)$$

$$\begin{aligned} R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} &= \frac{1}{2} h^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h_{\rho\sigma} - h^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{(\nu} h_{\rho)\sigma} + \frac{1}{4} \partial_{\mu} h^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\nu} h_{\rho\sigma} \\ &+ \partial^{\sigma} h^{\rho}_{\nu} \partial_{[\sigma} h_{\rho]\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\sigma} (h^{\sigma\rho} \partial_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu}) - \frac{1}{4} \partial^{\rho} h \partial_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu} \\ &- \left( \partial_{\sigma} h^{\sigma\rho} - \frac{1}{2} \partial^{\rho} h \right) \partial_{(\mu} h_{\nu)\rho} \,, \end{aligned}$$
(3.6c)

$$\Gamma^{\mu(1)}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\lambda} (\partial_{\alpha} h_{\lambda\beta} + \partial_{\beta} h_{\alpha\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda} h_{\alpha\beta}), \qquad (3.6d)$$

where the exponent in parenthesis shows the order in the metric fluctuations h. With these ingredients, we can then determine the expansion of the terms in eq. (3.1) up to second order:

$$\sqrt{-g} \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{2} R = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{2} \left( 1 + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu} \right) \left[ R_{\mu\nu} (\eta^{\mu\nu} - h^{\mu\nu}) \right]$$
$$= \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{2} \left( R^{(1)} - R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} R^{(1)} \eta_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu} + R^{(2)} \right), \qquad (3.7a)$$

$$\sqrt{-g}\mathcal{L}_{\rm gf} = -\sqrt{-g}\frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{4}g_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\alpha}\Gamma^{\beta} = -\frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{4}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\eta^{\mu\nu}\Gamma^{\alpha(1)}_{\mu\nu}\eta^{\sigma\rho}\Gamma^{\beta(1)}_{\sigma\rho},\qquad(3.7b)$$

$$\sqrt{-g}\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{m}}(g_{\mu\nu}) = \frac{1}{2}h^{\mu\nu}T_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{m}}(\eta_{\mu\nu}), \qquad (3.7c)$$

where we have re-introduced the matter sector, giving rise to the contributions from its energy-momentum tensor  $T_{\mu\nu}$ .

Making use of the results in eqs. (3.6b) to (3.6d) and integrating by parts, we obtain the following expression for the Lagrangian up to second order in  $h_{\mu\nu}$ :

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{4} \left[ \frac{1}{4} \partial_\mu h \partial^\mu h - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\rho h_{\mu\nu} \partial^\rho h^{\mu\nu} \right] + \frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{2} \left[ \partial^\mu \partial^\nu h_{\mu\nu} - \Box h \right] + \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm m}(\eta_{\mu\nu}).$$
(3.8)

The first term corresponds to the kinetic energy of the graviton and can be canonically normalized by rescaling it such that  $h_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow 2h_{\mu\nu}/M_{\rm Pl}$ . We draw attention to the second term, containing second derivatives of the graviton field, which can be removed on integrating by parts and setting the boundary terms to zero. In contrast, the analogous term for the scalar-tensor theory will not vanish, and it will be the source of the fifth forces in the Jordan frame, as we will show in the next subsection.

#### 3.2 Jordan frame

We now repeat the linearization for Brans-Dicke-type scalar-tensor theories. The action in this case will have a non-minimal coupling to the Ricci scalar, such that

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{F(X)}{2} R + \mathcal{L}'_{gf} - \frac{Z(X)}{2} \partial_\mu X \partial^\mu X - U(X) \right] + S_m[g_{\mu\nu}, \{\psi\}],$$
(3.9)

where, once again, we have included a gauge fixing term  $\mathcal{L}'_{gf}$ . Most importantly, this term will not be the same as in standard gravity [cf. eq. (3.4)], since the scalar-tensor action does not have the same symmetries as the Einstein-Hilbert one, given that the non-minimal coupling affects the (non-null) geodesics. This requires us to upgrade the usual harmonic gauge condition.

The first change is to replace the constant prefactor  $M_{\rm Pl}^2$  by the non-minimal coupling, such that

$$-\frac{M_{\rm Pl}^2}{4}g_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\alpha}\Gamma^{\beta} \to -\frac{F(X)}{4}g_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\alpha}\Gamma^{\beta}.$$
(3.10)

Second, we want to make sure that the gauge condition reflects the symmetries of the action, which are modified relative to the Einstein-Hilbert case.<sup>2</sup> Thus, the scalar-tensor equivalent of the harmonic condition must be defined via

$$D^{\mu}D_{\mu} = \partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}, \qquad (3.11)$$

where  $D^{\mu}$  is the covariant derivative as constructed with respect to the Jordan-frame action. This is the focus of the next subsection.

#### 3.2.1 Updating the covariant derivative

We know that General Relativity must be symmetric under diffeomorphisms. Thus, we will study which conditions the covariant derivative must satisfy in order to leave the action invariant under transformations of the form

$$g^{\mu\nu} \to g^{\mu\nu} + D^{\mu}\xi^{\nu} + D^{\nu}\xi^{\mu},$$
 (3.12)

where  $D_{\mu}$  is generically defined when acting on a four vector  $Y^{\nu}$  as

$$D^{\mu}Y^{\nu} = \partial^{\mu}Y^{\nu} + g^{\mu\rho}\Gamma^{\nu}_{\rho\sigma}Y^{\sigma} + C^{\mu}Y^{\nu}, \qquad (3.13)$$

and  $C^{\mu}$  contains the possible contributions of X to the isometries of the spacetime.

To find whether the action is symmetric under diffeomorphisms, we first need to vary the gravitational part of the action [eq. (3.9)] with respect to the metric, leading to

$$\delta S = -\int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-g} \frac{F(X)}{2} G_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where  $G_{\mu\nu}$  is the Einstein tensor and we take the small variation of the metric  $\delta g^{\mu\nu}$  to be given by the isometry from eq. (3.12). Since we expect this transformation to be a symmetry of the action,  $\delta S$  should vanish, i.e.,

$$\delta S = -\int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} F(X) G_{\mu\nu} D^{(\mu} \xi^{\nu)} = 0, \qquad (3.15)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>We might be tempted to work with only the first modification in eq. (3.10) for the updated gauge fixing term. While doing so does not affect the non-relativistic limit for the fifth forces, this choice significantly complicates the calculations and leads to apparent deviations from the corresponding Einstein-frame results in the relativistic limit.

where the parentheses indicate the symmetrization of indices, such that

$$D^{(\mu}\xi^{\nu)} = \frac{1}{2}(D^{\mu}\xi^{\nu} + D^{\nu}\xi^{\mu}).$$
(3.16)

Inserting the covariant derivative from eq. (3.13) and integrating by parts, we find

$$\delta S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} [\nabla^{\nu} (F(X)G_{\mu\nu}) - F(X)G_{\mu\nu}C^{\nu}]\xi^{\mu} = 0, \qquad (3.17)$$

where

$$\nabla_{\mu}Y^{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}Y^{\nu} + \Gamma^{\nu}_{\mu\sigma}Y^{\sigma} \tag{3.18}$$

is the covariant derivative of standard gravity. Since both  $\nabla^{\nu}$  and  $G_{\mu\nu}$  only depend on the metric, they will still satisfy the Bianchi identity, leading to

$$\nabla^{\nu}G_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{3.19}$$

However, as  $\nabla^{\nu}$  also acts on F(X), the perturbed action will take the following form

$$\delta S = \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} [\nabla^{\nu} F(X) - F(X) C^{\nu}] G_{\mu\nu} \xi^{\mu} = 0.$$
 (3.20)

Note that, for a constant F(X), this equation would vanish, showing that the geodesics of the Einstein-Hilbert action are in agreement with those from standard gravity, encoded in  $\nabla_{\mu}$ . However, to have a vanishing perturbed action in the Jordan frame, we need

$$C^{\nu} = \frac{\partial^{\nu} F(X)}{F(X)}.$$
(3.21)

Hence, we see that the non-minimal coupling of X alters the isometries of the spacetime.

The new contribution  $C^{\mu}$  to the covariant derivative can be also expressed as a modification of the Christoffel symbols [i.e., as a (1, 2)-form]. While this full expression is not needed to update the harmonic gauge condition, it is useful for explicit calculations of geodesics. While the derivation of the (1, 2)-form can be done by studying the symmetries of the Jordan-frame action, one can instead (since we know that it exists) use the Einstein frame as a shortcut, where standard gravity is recovered. Since we already know the symmetries of the Einsteinframe action, we can fix the gauge in that frame and then undo the coordinate transformation. In this way, we will get the corresponding set of symmetries for the Jordan frame.

For instance, Weyl transforming the covariant derivative of the vector  $Y_{\nu}$  from the Einstein to the Jordan frame, we find that

$$\tilde{\nabla}_{\mu}Y_{\nu} \to D_{\mu}Y_{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}Y_{\nu} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}Y_{\rho} + C^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}Y_{\rho}, \qquad (3.22)$$

where

$$C^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2F(X)} \left[ 2\delta^{\sigma}_{(\mu}\partial_{\nu)}F(X) - g_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\sigma}F(X) \right].$$
(3.23)

This is the correction to the Christoffel symbols coming from the breaking of the weak equivalence principle. Moreover, taking the trace of this term, we find that it is consistent with our previous result:

$$g^{\mu\nu}C^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial^{\sigma}F(X)}{F(X)} = C^{\sigma}.$$
(3.24)

Thus, in contrast to standard gravity, where the geometry of spacetime is exclusively modified through the Christoffel symbols, the non-minimal coupling of the field X alters the isometries, accounting for the breaking of the weak equivalence principle.

### 3.2.2 Gauge fixing and obtaining the generic linearized Jordan-frame Lagrangian

Having derived the scalar-tensor covariant derivative, we can now continue upgrading the harmonic gauge from eq. (3.10). Returning to eq. (3.11), the harmonic condition imposes

$$D^{\mu}D_{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu} \left[ \partial_{\nu}\partial_{\mu} - \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\sigma} + C^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\sigma} \right] = \partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}.$$
(3.25)

Thus, to satisfy the scalar-tensor harmonic gauge, it follows that

$$\Gamma^{\mu} - \frac{\partial^{\mu} F(X)}{F(X)} = 0.$$
(3.26)

Following the same logic as in eq. (3.2), we now replace each  $\Gamma^{\alpha}$  from eq. (3.10) by the new constraint. With this, we introduce the *scalar-harmonic gauge* via

$$\mathcal{L}'_{\rm gf} = -\frac{F(X)}{4} g_{\mu\nu} \left[ \Gamma^{\mu} - \frac{\partial^{\mu} F(X)}{F(X)} \right] \left[ \Gamma^{\nu} - \frac{\partial^{\nu} F(X)}{F(X)} \right].$$
(3.27)

It is important to point out that this is not the first time this gauge has been used. For instance, it is mentioned by Fuji and Maeda [12] and used in a number of papers where the authors employ the background covariant DeWitt condition [62–64]. However, here, we have presented a different way to find the gauge symmetries of the Jordan frame. Moreover, unlike in previous papers, we define the gauge fixing term using the complete metric, which allows us to perturb consistently to higher orders in the fluctuations.

Note also that we have been able to define this Jordan-frame gauge fixing term because we already had the standard gravity condition defined at the Lagrangian level [eq. (3.4)]. This might be problematic when working with other gauges that are defined only after gravity has been linearized. For instance, the Newtonian gauge does not have a full metric expression; it is defined by setting certain modes of the graviton to zero. Therefore, we cannot apply our gauging method in this case, which could lead to misinterpreted results when going to higher orders in the perturbations, since additional terms should appear because of the new symmetries of the action.

For the gauge fixing term in eq. (3.27), it proves convenient to divide it into three parts:

(i) a contribution to the graviton kinetic energy:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm G} = -\frac{F(X)}{4} g_{\mu\nu} \Gamma^{\mu} \Gamma^{\nu}; \qquad (3.28)$$

(ii) a contribution to the kinetic mixing:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm KM} = \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} F(X); \qquad (3.29)$$

(iii) a contribution to the X kinetic energy:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm SF} = -\frac{1}{4F(X)} g_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\mu} F(X) \partial^{\nu} F(X); \qquad (3.30)$$

such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm gf}' = \mathcal{L}_{\rm G} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm KM} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm SF}. \tag{3.31}$$

Inserting this gauge fixing term into eq. (3.9) and linearizing the action similarly to the standard gravity case, we obtain the following expansion up to second order for the associated Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{F(X)}{4} \left[ \frac{1}{4} \partial_{\mu} h \partial^{\mu} h - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\rho} h^{\mu\nu} \right] + \frac{F(X)}{2} \left[ \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} h_{\mu\nu} - \Box h \right] + \frac{F'(X)}{2} \left[ \partial^{\lambda} h_{\lambda\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} h \right] \partial^{\mu} X - \frac{1}{2} \left[ Z(X) + \frac{F'(X)}{2F(X)}^2 \right] g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} X \partial_{\nu} X - U(X) + \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{L}_{m}(\eta_{\mu\nu}).$$

$$(3.32)$$

The would-be total derivative term in the case of standard gravity, corresponding to the terms involving second derivatives of the metric fluctuations, no longer vanishes on integration by parts. Moreover, it creates an additional kinetic mixing term that, once added to  $\mathcal{L}_{\rm KM}$ , yields

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{F(X)}{4} \left[ \frac{1}{4} \partial_{\mu} h \partial^{\mu} h - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\rho} h^{\mu\nu} \right] + \frac{F'(X)}{4} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} h \partial_{\nu} X$$
$$- \frac{1}{2} \left[ Z(X) + \frac{F'(X)}{2F(X)}^2 \right] \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} X \partial_{\nu} X - U(X) + \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{L}_{m} \{ \eta_{\mu\nu} \}.$$
(3.33)

This is the generic effective Lagrangian of the linearized theory in the Jordan frame. When the function F(X) is constant, the expression reduces to that of General Relativity, as expected. Thus, the main difference is the new kinetic mixing term, and it is this which can lead to fifth forces between matter fields.

In contrast to the Einstein frame, the main contribution to the fifth-force coupling, as analysed in the Jordan frame, is via the kinetic mixing and not a mass mixing. This comes from the fact that the graviton propagator  $(\propto 1/q^2)$  cancels the momentum dependence of the mixing vertex  $(\propto q^2)$  in every oscillation between the field X and the graviton, such that, unlike the case of a massive field, there is no additional momentum suppression in the non-relativistic limit. In the next section, we will calculate explicitly the fifth forces that arise through this kinetic mixing in the Jordan frame.

#### 4 Fifth forces in the Jordan frame

Having derived the general expression for the Lagrangian up to second order in the metric fluctuations for the Brans-Dicke-type scalar-tensor theories in eq. (3.33), we now turn our attention to specific models to see how the fifth forces arise from the kinetic mixings between the graviton and the non-minimally coupled field X. We will show that the results agree with those obtained previously in the Einstein frame.

The action corresponding to eq. (2.17), with a matter sector given by eqs. (2.6) and (2.7), is

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{X}{2} R + \mathcal{L}'_{gf} - \frac{\omega(X)}{2X} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu X \partial_\nu X - \frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \Phi \partial_\nu \Phi \right. \\ \left. - \frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \Theta \partial_\nu \Theta + \frac{1}{2} \mu_\theta^2 \frac{X}{\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}} \Theta^2 - \frac{\lambda_\theta}{4!} \Theta^4 - \frac{3}{2} \frac{\mu_\theta^4}{\lambda_\theta} \frac{X^2}{\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}^2} \right. \\ \left. - \bar{\psi} i \overleftrightarrow{\theta} \psi - y \bar{\psi} \Phi \psi - U(\Phi, \Theta) \right],$$

$$(4.1)$$

where U is given by eq. (2.7). Note that we have already substituted in eq. (4.1) for the Brans-Dicke model functions [9], with

$$F(X) = X, \qquad Z(X) = \frac{\omega(X)}{X}.$$
(4.2)

We assume that  $\omega(X)$  is a slowly varying function that can be taken effectively constant.

We now proceed to linearize the Lagrangian, making use of the results from the preceding section. Substituting eq. (4.2) into eq. (3.33), we thus find

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{X}{4} \left[ \frac{1}{4} \partial_{\mu} h \partial^{\mu} h - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\rho} h^{\mu\nu} \right] - \frac{1}{2} \frac{2\omega + 1}{2X} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} X \partial_{\nu} X - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \Phi \partial_{\nu} \Phi + \frac{1}{4} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} h \partial_{\nu} X - U(\Phi, \Theta) - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \Theta \partial_{\nu} \Theta + \frac{1}{2} \mu_{\theta}^{2} \frac{X}{\tilde{M}_{\text{Pl}}} \Theta^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{\theta}}{4!} \Theta^{4} - \frac{3}{2} \frac{\mu_{\theta}^{4}}{\lambda_{\theta}} \frac{X^{2}}{\tilde{M}_{\text{Pl}}^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} - \bar{\psi} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial} \psi - y \bar{\psi} \Phi \psi + \cdots .$$

$$(4.3)$$

where the ellipsis indicates terms higher than second order in  $h_{\mu\nu}$ .

When linearizing around the background solution for X, namely  $v_X$ , it is possible to canonically normalize all the fields, including the graviton. To do so, we assume the background value of X to vary very slowly compared to the other fields. This is a reasonable assumption, given that the tightest constraints from the analysis of the Moon's orbit [65] set the Planck mass to be almost constant at late times, a result that can be obtained by considering the impact of the late-time Hubble friction on the evolution of X. Defining

$$X = \frac{\chi^2}{2(2\omega+1)} \tag{4.4}$$

and making the replacement  $h_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow 2h_{\mu\nu}/M_{\rm Pl}$ , where

$$M_{\rm Pl}^2 = \frac{v_{\chi}^2}{2(2\omega+1)},\tag{4.5}$$

the Lagrangian then takes the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{4} \partial_{\mu} h \partial^{\mu} h - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\rho} h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \chi \partial_{\nu} \chi - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \Phi \partial_{\nu} \Phi + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(2\omega+1)}} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} h \partial_{\nu} \chi - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \Theta \partial_{\nu} \Theta + U(\Phi, \Theta) + \frac{1}{2} \mu_{\theta}^{2} \frac{\chi^{2}}{\tilde{M}^{\prime 2}} \Theta^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{\theta}}{4!} \Theta^{4} - \frac{3}{2} \frac{\mu_{\theta}^{4}}{\lambda_{\theta}} \frac{\chi^{4}}{\tilde{M}^{\prime 4}} + \frac{1}{M_{\text{Pl}}} h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} - \bar{\psi} i \overleftrightarrow{\partial} \psi - y \bar{\psi} \Phi \psi + \cdots, \qquad (4.6)$$

where

$$\tilde{M}^{2} = \tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}^{2} 2(2\omega + 1). \tag{4.7}$$

Note that  $M_{\rm Pl}^2$  is the effective gravitational coupling in the Jordan frame, while  $\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}^2$  is the one defined in the Einstein frame. Even though they belong to different frames, the conformal transformations appear to have forced them into the same Lagrangian. However, as we will see, this is not the case as the  $\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}^2$  dependence cancels out, leading to a final result in terms of  $M_{\rm Pl}^2$ , as expected. The next step is to diagonalize the mass matrix so that we can isolate the expected massless mode that can mediate any long-range fifth force.

#### 4.1 Diagonalization

By considering the mass mixing terms from eq. (4.6), we can construct the following mass matrix:

$$m^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} m_{\Phi}^{2} & -Am_{\Phi} & 0\\ -Am_{\Phi} & m_{\Theta}^{2} & -Bm_{\chi}\\ 0 & -Bm_{\chi} & m_{\chi}^{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.8)

where

$$m_{\Phi}^2 = \frac{\lambda v_{\Phi}^2}{3}, \qquad \qquad m_{\Theta}^2 = \frac{\beta^2}{2\lambda} v_{\Theta}^2 + \frac{\mu_{\theta}^2}{\tilde{M}'^2} v_{\chi}^2, \qquad \qquad m_{\chi}^2 = \frac{\mu_{\theta}^2}{\tilde{M}'^2} v_{\Theta}^2, \qquad (4.9a)$$

$$v_{\Phi}^2 = \frac{6\mu^2 + \beta v_{\Theta}^2}{\lambda}, \qquad v_{\Theta}^2 = \frac{3\mu_{\theta}^2}{\lambda_{\theta}\tilde{M}'^2}v_{\chi}^2, \qquad v_{\chi}^2 = \frac{\lambda_{\theta}\tilde{M}'^2}{6\mu_{\theta}^2}v_{\Theta}^2, \qquad (4.9b)$$

$$A^{2} = \frac{\beta^{2}}{2\lambda} v_{\Theta}^{2}, \qquad \qquad B^{2} = \frac{\mu_{\theta}^{2}}{\tilde{M}^{\prime 2}} v_{\chi}^{2}. \qquad (4.9c)$$

Diagonalizing this mass matrix, we obtain a new set of fields  $\phi$ ,  $\theta$  and  $\sigma$ , whose squared mass eigenvalues are

$$m_{\phi,\theta}^2 = \frac{m_{\Phi}^2 + m_{\Theta}^2 + m_{\chi}^2 \pm \sqrt{(-m_{\Phi}^2 - A^2 + B^2 + m_{\chi}^2)^2 + 4A^2B^2}}{2}, \qquad m_{\sigma}^2 = 0, \qquad (4.10)$$

wherein we see the anticipated massless mode  $\sigma$ .

To determine how the original fields depend on these three modes, we need to find the eigenvectors of the mass matrix (4.8). After some algebra, we can show that

$$\phi = N_{\phi} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\beta v_{\Theta} v_{\Phi}}{3(m_{\Phi}^2 - C + D)} \\ 1 \\ \frac{\mu_{\theta}^2 v_{\Theta} v_{\chi}}{\tilde{M}'^2(m_{\chi}^2 - C + D)} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \theta = N_{\theta} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\beta v_{\Theta} v_{\Phi}}{3(m_{\Phi}^2 - C - D)} \\ 1 \\ \frac{\mu_{\theta}^2 v_{\Theta} v_{\chi}}{\tilde{M}'^2(m_{\chi}^2 - C - D)} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \sigma = N_{\sigma} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\beta v_{\Theta}}{\lambda v_{\Phi}} \\ 1 \\ \frac{v_{\chi}}{v_{\Theta}} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.11}$$

where  $N_{\phi}$ ,  $N_{\theta}$  and  $N_{\sigma}$  are normalization factors, and

$$C = \frac{m_{\Phi}^2 + m_{\Theta}^2 + m_{\chi}^2}{2}, \qquad D = \frac{\sqrt{(-m_{\Phi}^2 - A^2 + B^2 + m_{\chi}^2)^2 + 4A^2B^2}}{2}.$$
 (4.12)

For the fifth-force contribution to the Møller scattering, we need only expand the  $\chi$  and  $\Phi$  fields in terms of the massless eigenmode, since they are the only ones coupling to the fermion and graviton directly. The relevant expansions take the forms

$$\chi = \frac{a}{N_{\phi}}\phi + \frac{b}{N_{\theta}}\theta + \frac{c}{N_{\sigma}}\sigma, \qquad \Phi = \frac{a'}{N_{\phi}}\phi + \frac{b'}{N_{\theta}}\theta + \frac{c'}{N_{\sigma}}\sigma, \qquad (4.13)$$



Figure 2. The diagrams that contribute to the Møller scattering in the Jordan frame.

where  $\{a, b, \ldots\}$  are constant coefficients, which should not be confused with those appearing in eq. (2.14). Since we are interested in the massless mode, we only need to determine c and c', and, after some algebra, we have

$$c = \frac{\theta_3 - \phi_3}{(\theta_1 - \phi_1)(\sigma_3 - \phi_3) + (\sigma_1 - \phi_1)(\phi_3 - \theta_3)},$$
(4.14a)

$$c' = -\frac{\theta_1 - \phi_1}{(\theta_1 - \phi_1)(\sigma_3 - \phi_3) + (\sigma_1 - \phi_1)(\phi_3 - \theta_3)},$$
(4.14b)

where the subscripts refer to each component of the eigenvectors defined in eq. (4.11), without the corresponding normalizing factor  $N_{\{\phi,\theta,\sigma\}}$ . We are now in a position to derive an expression for the effective Lagrangian in terms of the massless mode and subsequently calculate its contribution to the Møller scattering.

#### 4.2 Non-relativistic fifth-force potential

After diagonalizing the mass terms in the Lagrangian, we have found all the different ways that the long-range fifth forces can couple to the matter fields. From the linearization of scalar-tensor gravity, the fifth forces arise through the kinetic mixing between the graviton and the  $\sigma$  field. In addition, after diagonalizing the mass terms, a new coupling between the massless mode and the fermion field appears as a result of their Yukawa interaction with the  $\Phi$  field. Thus, there are four distinct Feynman diagrams contributing to the Møller scattering, and these are shown in figure 2.

The terms in the Lagrangian relevant to the fifth force are as follows:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm JF} = \frac{1}{4} \partial_{\mu} h \partial^{\mu} h - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\rho} h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma \partial_{\nu} \sigma + \frac{c N_{\sigma}^{-1}}{\sqrt{2(2\omega+1)}} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} h \partial_{\nu} \sigma - y c' N_{\sigma}^{-1} \bar{\psi} \sigma \psi + \frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}} h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm m}(\eta_{\mu\nu}), \qquad (4.15)$$

and the resulting Feynman rules are summarized in figure 3.



Figure 3. Feynman rules for the Lagrangian [eq. (4.15)] with an explicitly broken scale symmetry, where  $\gamma_{\mu}$  are the gamma matrices. To a good approximation, we can take  $cN_{\sigma}^{-1} \approx 1$ , since  $\tilde{M} \gg 1$ .

Since the structure of all the diagrams is very similar, we will describe only the contribution from figure 2(a) in detail. The matrix element for this process is

$$i\mathcal{M}_{(\mathbf{a})} = \bar{u}(\mathbf{p}_{1}, s_{1}) \left(i\frac{\tau_{\mu\nu}}{M_{\mathrm{Pl}}}\right) u(\mathbf{p}_{3}, s_{3}) \left(i\frac{P^{\mu\nu ab}}{t}\right) (i\eta_{ab}\alpha_{\mathrm{K}}t) \left(\frac{i}{t}\right) \\ \times \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (i\alpha_{\mathrm{K}}t)^{n} \left(\frac{i\eta_{cd}P^{cdef}\eta_{ef}}{t}\right)^{n} (i\alpha_{\mathrm{K}}t)^{n} \left(\frac{i}{t}\right)^{n}\right] \\ \times (i\alpha_{\mathrm{K}}\eta_{gh}t) \left(\frac{iP^{gh\sigma\rho}}{t}\right) \bar{u}(\mathbf{p}_{2}, s_{2}) \left(i\frac{\tau_{\sigma\rho}}{M_{\mathrm{Pl}}}\right) u(\mathbf{p}_{4}, s_{4}),$$
(4.16)

where, as before,  $t = -(p_1 - p_3)^2$ ,  $u(\mathbf{p}, s)$  and  $\bar{u}(\mathbf{p}, s)$  are respectively the Dirac four-spinor and its Dirac conjugate, with spin projection s. Note that, for clarity, we have isolated each vertex and propagator with parentheses. For convenience, we have also defined the parameter

$$\alpha_{\rm K} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(2\omega+1)}}.$$
(4.17)

Equation (4.16) can be simplified by making use of the following identities for  $P^{\mu\nu\sigma\rho}$ :

$$\eta_{\mu\nu}P^{\mu\nu\sigma\rho} = -\eta^{\sigma\rho}, \qquad \eta_{\mu\nu}P^{\mu\nu\sigma\rho}\eta_{\sigma\rho} = -4, \tag{4.18}$$

and we find that we only have vertices involving the trace of  $\tau_{\mu\nu}$ , as we would have expected from eq. (2.5).

Working in the non-relativistic limit and choosing the fermions to represent electrons with mass  $m_e$ , such that  $p^{\mu} \sim q^{\mu} \approx (m_e, \vec{0})$ , the spinors satisfy

$$\bar{u}(\mathbf{p},s)\gamma_{\mu}u(\mathbf{q},s') = 2m_e\delta_{\mu0}\delta_{ss'},\tag{4.19}$$

in which case, using the expression for  $\tau = \eta^{\mu\nu}\tau_{\mu\nu}$  extracted from figure 3, we have

$$\bar{u}(\mathbf{p},s)\tau u(\mathbf{q},s') = -2m_e^2. \tag{4.20}$$

The matrix element then reduces to

$$\mathcal{M}_{(\mathbf{a})} = -\frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}^2} \frac{4m_e^4 \alpha_{\rm K}^2}{t} \left[ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left( -4\alpha_{\rm K}^2 \frac{1}{t} \right)^n \right] \delta_{s_1 s_3} \delta_{s_2 s_4} = -\frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}^2} \frac{4m_e^4 \alpha_{\rm K}^2}{(1+4\alpha_{\rm K}^2)t} \delta_{s_1 s_3} \delta_{s_2 s_4}.$$
 (4.21)

To extract the non-relativistic potential, we take  $t = -\mathbf{Q}^2$  (where  $\mathbf{Q}$  is the exchange momentum), and the contribution to the Yukawa potential is

$$V_{(\mathbf{a})}(r) = -\frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}^2} \frac{m_e^2}{(4+\alpha_{\rm K}^{-2})} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{Q}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{Q}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \frac{1}{\mathbf{Q}^2} = -\frac{1}{4\pi r} \frac{m_e^2}{M_{\rm Pl}^2 2(2\omega+3)}.$$
 (4.22)

The contributions from the remaining processes in figure 2 are

$$V_{(\mathbf{b})}(r) = V_{(\mathbf{c})}(r) = -\frac{1}{4\pi r} \left(\frac{c' v_{\chi}}{c v_{\Phi}}\right) \frac{m_e^2}{M_{\rm Pl}^2 2(2\omega+3)},$$
(4.23a)

$$V_{(\mathbf{d})}(r) = -\frac{1}{4\pi r} \left(\frac{c' v_{\chi}}{c v_{\Phi}}\right)^2 \frac{m_e^2}{M_{\rm Pl}^2 2(2\omega+3)},\tag{4.23b}$$

and the sum of all the contributions to the Yukawa potential is

$$V_5(r) = -\frac{m_e^2}{4\pi r M_{\rm Pl}^2} \frac{\left(1 + \frac{v_\chi \gamma}{v_\Phi}\right)^2}{2(2\omega + 3)}.$$
(4.24)

After some algebra, we can show that

$$\gamma = \frac{c'}{c} = -\frac{\beta v_{\Theta}^2}{\lambda v_{\chi} v_{\Phi}},\tag{4.25}$$

and, using the fact that  $v_{\Theta}^2 = (\lambda v_{\Phi}^2 - 6\mu^2)/\beta$ , we obtain the following final expression

$$V_5(r) = -\frac{1}{4\pi r} \frac{m_e^2}{M_{\rm Pl}^2 2(2\omega+3)} \frac{4\mu^4}{m_{\Phi}^4},\tag{4.26}$$

where we recall that

$$m_{\Phi}^2 = 2\mu^2 + \frac{\beta v_{\Theta}^2}{3}.$$
 (4.27)

This is in perfect agreement with the result in the Einstein frame<sup>3</sup> [eq. (2.25)]. Notice therefore that we also find that the fifth force vanishes in the absence of explicit scale breaking  $(\mu \to 0)$ , as we did in the Einstein frame.

Before concluding this work, we consider in the next subsection the full expressions for the matrix element of the Møller scattering away from the non-relativistic limit.

#### 4.3 Møller scattering for purely explicit scale breaking $(\beta \rightarrow 0)$

For simplicity, we will work in the purely explicit scale-breaking limit (i.e.,  $\beta \rightarrow 0$ ). We consider the spin-averaged squared matrix element

$$\overline{|\mathcal{M}|^2} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\text{spins}} |\mathcal{M}|^2, \qquad (4.28)$$

After some algebra, we find the t-channel contribution

showing the same frame covariance as in the Yukawa potential, in the sense that the Jordanand Einstein-frame results differ only by  $M \to \tilde{M}$ .<sup>4</sup> The mass scales are related to the Planck masses of each theory through  $M^2 = 2(2\omega + 3)M_{\rm Pl}^2$ .

Including the *u*-channel contribution  $(u = -(p_4 - p_1)^2)$ , and taking the ultra-relativistic limit (i.e.,  $m_e \to 0$ ), we obtain:<sup>5</sup>

$$\overline{|\mathcal{M}_{\rm JF}|^2} = \frac{\tilde{M}^4}{M^4} \overline{|\mathcal{M}_{\rm EF}|^2} = \frac{81 \left(t^2 + u^2\right)}{16M^4}.$$
(4.30)

We thus see that the scalar-harmonic gauge from eq. (3.27) leads to a perfect agreement between frames.

#### 5 Conclusion

In this paper, we have studied the fifth forces that can arise in scalar-tensor theories of gravity by considering the tree-level matrix elements directly in the Jordan frame. To do so, we had to perturb both the metric and the matter fields, requiring a consistent linearization of the modified gravity sector.

We have shown that the fifth forces arise through a kinetic mixing between the graviton and the non-minimally coupled field in the Jordan frame. For the specific model described

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Since conformal transformations modify the rulers used to measure distances, we must compare dimensionless quantities, which are unaffected by coordinate transformations. This could, e.g., be the ratio of the fifth-force potential to the standard Newtonian potential. This is to say that the expressions for the potentials should match but with  $\tilde{M}_{\rm Pl}$  for the Einstein frame and  $M_{\rm Pl}$  for the Jordan frame.

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ Had we not used the updated harmonic gauge condition in eq. (3.27), we would have found agreement up to an additional numerical multiplicative factor.

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>$ To calculate the traces of the product of the gamma matrices, we used the Mathematica package Feyn-Calc [67–69].

in this work, we have illustrated how the diagonalization of the mass matrix of the scalar sector yields an additional direct coupling between the massless fifth-force mediator and the fermion through the original Yukawa coupling of the would-be Higgs field. By this means, we were able to illustrate from the Jordan-frame perspective the role played by sources of explicit scale breaking in the matter sector in allowing fifth forces to couple to matter fields.

In addition, we have shown that a full evaluation of the symmetries of the modified gravitational action is crucial for consistently updating the usual gauge fixing conditions. By imposing diffeomorphism invariance on the gravitational action in the knowledge that it can be mapped to Einstein gravity, we obtained a redefinition of the covariant derivative, wherein the breaking of the weak equivalence principle is manifest. In this way, we were led to an update of the usual harmonic gauge — the so-called scalar-harmonic gauge [see eq. (3.27)] — providing results in perfect agreement with those found in the Einstein frame.

While this gauge fixing term is not completely new, we have been able to define it at the level of the full metric. Up to second order, one can equivalently define the gauge using the DeWitt background condition [62-64]. However, there are additional operators at order three and four in the graviton and additional scalar fields, which are captured by our full metric expression.

This work forms a basis for considering the consistent gauging and performing perturbative analyses of fifth forces in other modified theories of gravity, including and especially those for which an Einstein frame does not exist. This may form the focus of future works.

Note added. While preparing the arXiv preprint of this work for journal submission, a thesis was uploaded to the arXiv [70], where similar techniques are used for the derivation of the scalar-harmonic gauge [eq. (3.27)].

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Clare Burrage for helpful discussions. This work was supported by the Science and Technology Facilities Council (STFC) Consolidated Grant [Grant No. ST/T000732/1] and STFC studentship [Grant No. ST/V506928/1]; a United Kingdom Research Innovation (UKRI) Future Leaders Fellowship [Grant No. MR/V021974/1]; a Nottingham Research Fellowship from the University of Nottingham; and a Leverhulme Research Fellowship [Grant No. RF-2021-312].

#### A Understanding the fifth-force couplings at the Lagrangian level

In this appendix, we provide further details of how the theory from eq. (4.15) behaves in the two scale-breaking limits: explicit and dynamical. To this end, we diagonalize the kinetic terms by making the following transformations of the graviton and massless mode:

$$h_{\mu\nu} \to h_{\mu\nu} + \frac{cN_{\sigma}^{-1}}{\sqrt{4cN_{\sigma}^{-1} + 2(2\omega + 1)}}\sigma\eta_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \sigma \to -\frac{\sqrt{2(2\omega + 1)}}{\sqrt{4cN_{\sigma}^{-1} + 2(2\omega + 1)}}\sigma.$$
 (A.1)

This leads to the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{4} \partial_{\mu} h \partial^{\mu} h - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\rho} h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma \partial_{\nu} \sigma - \frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}} \frac{c N_{\sigma}^{-1}}{\sqrt{4c N_{\sigma}^{-1} + 2(2\omega + 1)}} \sigma T + y \frac{c' N_{\sigma}^{-1} \sqrt{2(2\omega + 1)}}{\sqrt{4c N_{\sigma}^{-1} + 2(2\omega + 1)}} \bar{\psi} \sigma \psi + \frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}} h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{L}_{\psi}(\eta_{\mu\nu}) + \dots$$
(A.2)

Herein, we see that the massless mode couples both to the trace of the matter energymomentum tensor and directly to the fermion field through a Yukawa coupling. We can now consider the two limits:

Explicitly broken scale symmetry  $(\beta \rightarrow 0)$ . As we can see, the new Yukawa coupling depends linearly on c', which, from eq. (4.14b), is proportional to  $\theta_1 - \phi_1$ . Extracting each term from eq. (4.11), we obtain

$$\phi_1 = \frac{\beta v_{\Theta} v_{\Phi}}{3(m_{\Phi}^2 - C + D)}, \qquad \theta_1 = \frac{\beta v_{\Theta} v_{\Phi}}{3(m_{\Phi}^2 - C - D)}, \tag{A.3}$$

such that there is no overlap between  $\Phi$  and  $\sigma$  in the limit  $\beta \to 0$  and c' vanishes. It follows that the Yukawa coupling of  $\sigma$  arises through the dynamical scale breaking. In addition, we can show that

$$cN_{\sigma}^{-1} \approx 1,$$
 (A.4)

such that

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}\sqrt{2(2\omega+3)}}\sigma T,\tag{A.5}$$

from which we readily recover the result for the Yukawa potential of the Brans-Dicke-type model [eq. (2.28)] in the purely explicit scale-breaking limit.

Dynamically broken scale symmetry  $(\mu \rightarrow 0)$ . In this limit, neither of the interaction terms vanish. Instead, as we will now show, they exactly cancel against one another. In the non-relativistic limit, the trace of the energy-momentum tensor is

$$T \approx m_e \psi \psi, \qquad m_e = y v_\Phi,$$
 (A.6)

where we have chosen the fermions to represent electrons of mass  $m_e$ . The two interaction terms can therefore be combined such that

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{m_e c N_{\sigma}^{-1}}{M_{\rm Pl} \sqrt{4c N_{\sigma}^{-1} + 2(2\omega + 1)}} \left(1 + \frac{v_{\chi} \gamma}{v_{\Phi}}\right) \bar{\psi} \sigma \psi, \tag{A.7}$$

where  $M_{\rm Pl}$  is defined in eq. (4.5). Using the result for  $\gamma$  from eq. (4.25), we have

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{m_e c N_{\sigma}^{-1}}{M_{\rm Pl} \sqrt{4c N_{\sigma}^{-1} + 2(2\omega + 1)}} \left(1 - \frac{v_{\chi}}{v_{\Phi}} \frac{\beta v_{\Theta}^2}{\lambda v_{\chi} v_{\Phi}}\right) \bar{\psi} \sigma \psi.$$
(A.8)

Subsequently recalling that

$$v_{\Theta}^2 = \frac{\lambda v_{\Phi}^2}{\beta} - \frac{6\mu^2}{\beta},\tag{A.9}$$

we can rewrite the large parenthesis in eq. (A.8) to give

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{m_e c N_\sigma^{-1}}{M_{\rm Pl} \sqrt{4c N_\sigma^{-1} + 2(2\omega + 1)}} \left(1 - 1 + \frac{6\mu^2}{\lambda v_\Phi^2}\right) \bar{\psi} \sigma \psi. \tag{A.10}$$

Since  $v_{\Phi}$  remains finite in the limit  $\mu \to 0$ , we indeed see that the two interaction terms exactly cancel in the limit of purely dynamical scale-symmetry breaking, such that the fifth force mediator  $\sigma$  decouples from the matter fields, as expected (see, e.g., refs. [10, 37]).

#### References

- [1] V. Silveira and A. Zee, Scalar phantoms, Phys. Lett. B 161 (1985) 136 [INSPIRE].
- J. McDonald, Gauge singlet scalars as cold dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 3637 [hep-ph/0702143] [INSPIRE].
- [3] C.P. Burgess, M. Pospelov and T. ter Veldhuis, *The minimal model of nonbaryonic dark matter: A singlet scalar*, *Nucl. Phys. B* **619** (2001) 709 [hep-ph/0011335] [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Davoudiasl, R. Kitano, T. Li and H. Murayama, The mew minimal standard model, Phys. Lett. B 609 (2005) 117 [hep-ph/0405097] [INSPIRE].
- R.M. Schabinger and J.D. Wells, A minimal spontaneously broken hidden sector and its impact on Higgs boson physics at the large hadron collider, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 093007 [hep-ph/0509209] [INSPIRE].
- [6] B. Patt and F. Wilczek, Higgs-field portal into hidden sectors, hep-ph/0605188 [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Falkowski, J. Juknevich and J. Shelton, Dark matter through the neutrino portal, arXiv:0908.1790 [INSPIRE].
- [8] V. González Macías and J. Wudka, Effective theories for dark matter interactions and the neutrino portal paradigm, JHEP 07 (2015) 161 [arXiv:1506.03825] [INSPIRE].
- C. Brans and R.H. Dicke, Mach's principle and a relativistic theory of gravitation, Phys. Rev. 124 (1961) 925 [INSPIRE].
- [10] C. Burrage, E.J. Copeland, P. Millington and M. Spannowsky, Fifth forces, Higgs portals and broken scale invariance, JCAP 11 (2018) 036 [arXiv:1804.07180] [INSPIRE].
- P. Millington, Fifth forces and discrete symmetry breaking, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1586 (2020) 012024 [arXiv:1903.09603] [INSPIRE].
- [12] Y. Fujii and K. Maeda, The scalar-tensor theory of gravitation, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2003).
- [13] M. Herranen, T. Markkanen, S. Nurmi and A. Rajantie, Spacetime curvature and the Higgs stability during inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 211102 [arXiv:1407.3141] [INSPIRE].
- [14] T. Markkanen, S. Nurmi, A. Rajantie and S. Stopyra, The 1-loop effective potential for the Standard Model in curved spacetime, JHEP 06 (2018) 040 [arXiv:1804.02020] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Joyce, B. Jain, J. Khoury and M. Trodden, Beyond the cosmological standard model, Phys. Rept. 568 (2015) 1 [arXiv:1407.0059] [INSPIRE].
- [16] C. Burrage and J. Sakstein, Tests of chameleon gravity, Living Rev. Rel. 21 (2018) 1 [arXiv:1709.09071] [INSPIRE].
- [17] P. Brax and C. Burrage, Screening the Higgs portal, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 015011
   [arXiv:2101.10693] [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Khoury and A. Weltman, Chameleon fields: Awaiting surprises for tests of gravity in space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 171104 [astro-ph/0309300] [INSPIRE].

- [19] J. Khoury and A. Weltman, Chameleon cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 044026 [astro-ph/0309411] [INSPIRE].
- [20] K. Hinterbichler and J. Khoury, Symmetron fields: screening long-range forces through local symmetry restoration, Phys. Rev. Lett. 104 (2010) 231301 [arXiv:1001.4525] [INSPIRE].
- [21] K. Hinterbichler, J. Khoury, A. Levy and A. Matas, Symmetron cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 103521 [arXiv:1107.2112] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A.I. Vainshtein, To the problem of nonvanishing gravitation mass, Phys. Lett. B **39** (1972) 393 [INSPIRE].
- [23] R. Alves Batista et al., EuCAPT White Paper: Opportunities and challenges for theoretical astroparticle physics in the next decade, arXiv:2110.10074 [INSPIRE].
- [24] P. Brax, S. Casas, H. Desmond and B. Elder, Testing screened modified gravity, Universe 8 (2021) 11 [arXiv:2201.10817] [INSPIRE].
- [25] C. Wetterich, Cosmology and the fate of dilatation symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 302 (1988) 668
   [arXiv:1711.03844] [INSPIRE].
- [26] W. Buchmüller and N. Dragon, Dilatons in flat and curved space-time, Nucl. Phys. B 321 (1989) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [27] M. Shaposhnikov and D. Zenhausern, Scale invariance, unimodular gravity and dark energy, Phys. Lett. B 671 (2009) 187 [arXiv:0809.3395] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Shaposhnikov and D. Zenhausern, Quantum scale invariance, cosmological constant and hierarchy problem, Phys. Lett. B 671 (2009) 162 [arXiv:0809.3406] [INSPIRE].
- [29] D. Blas, M. Shaposhnikov and D. Zenhausern, Scale-invariant alternatives to general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 044001 [arXiv:1104.1392] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J. García-Bellido, J. Rubio, M. Shaposhnikov and D. Zenhausern, *Higgs-Dilaton cosmology: from the early to the late universe*, *Phys. Rev. D* 84 (2011) 123504 [arXiv:1107.2163]
   [INSPIRE].
- [31] J. García-Bellido, J. Rubio and M. Shaposhnikov, Higgs-Dilaton cosmology: Are there extra relativistic species?, Phys. Lett. B 718 (2012) 507 [arXiv:1209.2119] [INSPIRE].
- [32] F. Bezrukov, G.K. Karananas, J. Rubio and M. Shaposhnikov, *Higgs-Dilaton cosmology: An effective field theory approach*, *Phys. Rev. D* 87 (2013) 096001 [arXiv:1212.4148] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Henz, J.M. Pawlowski, A. Rodigast and C. Wetterich, Dilaton quantum gravity, Phys. Lett. B 727 (2013) 298 [arXiv:1304.7743] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J. Rubio and M. Shaposhnikov, Higgs-Dilaton cosmology: Universality versus criticality, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 027307 [arXiv:1406.5182] [INSPIRE].
- [35] G.K. Karananas and M. Shaposhnikov, Scale invariant alternatives to general relativity. II. Dilaton properties, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 084052 [arXiv:1603.01274] [INSPIRE].
- [36] P.G. Ferreira, C.T. Hill and G.G. Ross, Scale-independent inflation and hierarchy generation, Phys. Lett. B 763 (2016) 174 [arXiv:1603.05983] [INSPIRE].
- [37] P.G. Ferreira, C.T. Hill and G.G. Ross, No fifth force in a scale invariant universe, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 064038 [arXiv:1612.03157] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Casas, M. Pauly and J. Rubio, Higgs-dilaton cosmology: An inflation-dark-energy connection and forecasts for future galaxy surveys, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 043520 [arXiv:1712.04956] [INSPIRE].
- [39] P.G. Ferreira, C.T. Hill, J. Noller and G.G. Ross, Inflation in a scale invariant universe, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 123516 [arXiv:1802.06069] [INSPIRE].

- [40] ILC PHYSICS, DETECTOR STUDY collaboration, Measurement of Higgs boson couplings at the International Linear Collider, Nucl. Part. Phys. Proc. **273-275** (2016) 826 [INSPIRE].
- [41] H. Abramowicz et al., Higgs physics at the CLIC electron-positron linear collider, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 475 [arXiv:1608.07538] [INSPIRE].
- [42] F. Maltoni, D. Pagani and X. Zhao, Constraining the Higgs self-couplings at e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders, JHEP 07 (2018) 087 [arXiv:1802.07616] [INSPIRE].
- [43] CMS collaboration, Combination of searches for Higgs boson pair production in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122** (2019) 121803 [arXiv:1811.09689] [INSPIRE].
- [44] S. Borowka, C. Duhr, F. Maltoni, D. Pagani, A. Shivaji and X. Zhao, Probing the scalar potential via double Higgs boson production at hadron colliders, JHEP 04 (2019) 016 [arXiv:1811.12366] [INSPIRE].
- [45] ATLAS collaboration, Constraints on the Higgs boson self-coupling from the combination of single-Higgs and double-Higgs production analyses performed with the ATLAS experiment, ATLAS-CONF-2019-049 (2019).
- [46] P. Agrawal, D. Saha, L.-X. Xu, J.-H. Yu and C.P. Yuan, Determining the shape of the Higgs potential at future colliders, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 075023 [arXiv:1907.02078] [INSPIRE].
- [47] ATLAS collaboration, Physics prospects for ATLAS at the HL-LHC, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1690 (2020) 012156 [INSPIRE].
- [48] P. Brax and A.C. Davis, Conformal inflation coupled to matter, JCAP 05 (2014) 019 [arXiv:1401.7281] [INSPIRE].
- [49] G.W. Horndeski, Second-order scalar-tensor field equations in a four-dimensional space, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 10 (1974) 363 [INSPIRE].
- [50] T. Kobayashi, Horndeski theory and beyond: a review, Rept. Prog. Phys. 82 (2019) 086901
   [arXiv:1901.07183] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D. Traykova, E. Bellini and P.G. Ferreira, The phenomenology of beyond Horndeski gravity, JCAP 08 (2019) 035 [arXiv:1902.10687] [INSPIRE].
- [52] J. Gleyzes, D. Langlois, F. Piazza and F. Vernizzi, Essential building blocks of dark energy, JCAP 08 (2013) 025 [arXiv:1304.4840] [INSPIRE].
- [53] D. Langlois and K. Noui, Degenerate higher derivative theories beyond Horndeski: Evading the Ostrogradski instability, JCAP 02 (2016) 034 [arXiv:1510.06930] [INSPIRE].
- [54] D. Langlois, Dark energy and modified gravity in degenerate higher-order scalar-tensor (DHOST) theories: A review, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 28 (2019) 1942006 [arXiv:1811.06271]
   [INSPIRE].
- [55] H. Banks and M. McCullough, Charting the fifth force landscape, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 075018 [arXiv:2009.12399] [INSPIRE].
- [56] P.G. Ferreira, C.T. Hill and G.G. Ross, Inertial spontaneous symmetry breaking and quantum scale invariance, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 116012 [arXiv:1801.07676] [INSPIRE].
- [57] B. Bertotti, L. Iess and P. Tortora, A test of general relativity using radio links with the Cassini spacecraft, Nature 425 (2003) 374 [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Avilez and C. Skordis, Cosmological constraints on Brans-Dicke theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 011101 [arXiv:1303.4330] [INSPIRE].
- [59] M. Fierz and W. Pauli, On relativistic wave equations for particles of arbitrary spin in an electromagnetic field, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 173 (1939) 211 [INSPIRE].
- [60] J.F. Donoghue, Introduction to the effective field theory description of gravity, in Advanced School on Effective Theories, Almunecar Spain (1995) [gr-qc/9512024] [INSPIRE].

- [61] J.F. Donoghue, M.M. Ivanov and A. Shkerin, *EPFL Lectures on General Relativity as a Quantum Field Theory*, arXiv:1702.00319 [INSPIRE].
- [62] B.S. DeWitt, Dynamical theory of groups and fields, Conf. Proc. C 630701 (1964) 585 [INSPIRE].
- [63] A.O. Barvinsky and G.A. Vilkovisky, The generalized Schwinger-DeWitt technique in gauge theories and quantum gravity, Phys. Rept. 119 (1985) 1.
- [64] C.F. Steinwachs and A.Y. Kamenshchik, One-loop divergences for gravity non-minimally coupled to a multiplet of scalar fields: calculation in the Jordan frame. I. The main results, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 024026 [arXiv:1101.5047] [INSPIRE].
- [65] J. Müller and L. Biskupek, Variations of the gravitational constant from lunar laser ranging data, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 4533 [INSPIRE].
- [66] T. Olyaei and A. Aziziy, Weak gravitational interaction of fermions: quantum viewpoint, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 33 (2018) 1850218 [arXiv:1804.06939] [INSPIRE].
- [67] R. Mertig, M. Böhm and A. Denner, FEYN CALC: Computer algebraic calculation of Feynman amplitudes, Comput. Phys. Commun. 64 (1991) 345 [INSPIRE].
- [68] V. Shtabovenko, R. Mertig and F. Orellana, New developments in FeynCalc 9.0, Comput. Phys. Commun. 207 (2016) 432 [arXiv:1601.01167] [INSPIRE].
- [69] V. Shtabovenko, R. Mertig and F. Orellana, FeynCalc 9.3: New features and improvements, Comput. Phys. Commun. 256 (2020) 107478 [arXiv:2001.04407] [INSPIRE].
- [70] M.M. Riva, Effective Field Theory for Gravitational Radiation in General Relativity and beyond, other thesis, 11, 2021 [arXiv:2111.07433] [INSPIRE].